
   [image: Cover: Brazilian Adventure by Peter Fleming]


   
      
         
            Brazilian

Adventure

            PETER FLEMING

         

         
            
               [image: ]

            

         

      

   


   
      
         
            To C

         

      

   


   
      
         
            Contents

         

         
            
               
	Title Page

                  	Dedication

                  	Foreword  

                  	PART ONE: THROUGH THE LOOKING GLASS  

                  	1: Signing On  

                  	2: The Mystery of Colonel Fawcett  

                  	3: No Nonsense  

                  	4: Outlook Unsettled  

                  	5: Getaway  

                  	6: Rolling Down  

                  	7: Rio  

                  	8: Getting Warmer  

                  	9: Snakes and a Revolution  

                  	10: False Start  

                  	11: Frontier Interlude  

                  	12: The Road Up Country  

                  	13: Assorted Encounters  

                  	14: Delays and Doubts  

                  	15: The Real Thing  

                  	16: Araguaya  

                  	17: Ticks and Toffee  

                  	18: Indians and Otters  

                  	19: The Last of the Dragons  

                  	20: One Thing and Another  

                  	PART TWO: HAND TO MOUTH  

                  	1: At the Cross-Roads  

                  	2: Lost Leader  

                  	3: Another Tribe  

                  	4: Signs and Portents  

                  	5: Forlorn Hope  

                  	6: Then There were Three  

                  	7: Mainly Amphibious  

                  	8: The Last Fling  

                  	9: What Happened to Fawcett  

                  	PART THREE: THE RACE TO THE AMAZON  

                  	1: Iron Rations  

                  	2: The Gloves are Off  

                  	3: The Race Begins  

                  	4: The First Rapids  

                  	5: Three Friends and Two Monks  

                  	6: Eleven Men in a Boat  

                  	7: Ructions  

                  	8: The Disenchanting Village  

                  	9: We Lose Our Lead  

                  	10: Nobbling the Favourite  

                  	11: Stern Chase  

                  	12: A Very Short Head  

                  	Epilogue 

                  	Glossary  

                  	About the Author 

                  	About the Publisher

                  	Copyright 

               



         

      

   


   
      
         
9
            Foreword

         

         Most expeditions have serious, scientific, non-committal books written about them. But ours was not that sort of expedition, and mine is not that sort of book. Only an alienist could have chronicled our activities either seriously or scientifically. I have, however, been as non-committal as I could.

         Differing as it does from most books about expeditions, this book differs also from most books about the interior of Brazil. It differs in being throughout strictly truthful. I had meant, when I started, to pile on the agony a good deal; I felt it would be expected of me. In treating of the Great Unknown one has a free hand, and my few predecessors in this particular field had made great play with the Terrors of the Jungle. The alligators, the snakes, the maneating fish, the lurking savages, those dreadful insects — all the paraphernalia of tropical mumbo jumbo lay ready to my hand. But when the time came I found that I had not the face to make the most of them. So the reader must forgive me if my picture of Matto Grosso does not tally with his lurid preconceptions.

         The hardships and privations which we were called on to endure were of a very minor order, the dangers which we ran were considerably less than those to be encountered on any arterial road during a heat wave; and if, in any part of this book, I have given a contrary impression, I have done so unwittingly.

         The expedition may claim to have thrown a little (but not much) light, of a confirmatory nature, on the mystery surrounding Colonel Fawcett’s disappearance. Otherwise, beyond the completion of a 3,000-mile journey, mostly under amusing conditions, through a little-known part of the world, and the discovery of one new 10 tributary to a tributary to a tributary of the Amazon, nothing of importance was achieved. But I should like to take this opportunity of expressing my profound appreciation of the parts played in the incidents herein narrated by all members of the expedition, and our gratitude to Capt. J. G. Holman, of São Paulo, for the invaluable services rendered by him to the expedition in Brazil; and in particular I should like to thank Mr. Roger Pettiward, who always saw the joke.

         
             

         

         Peter Fleming

Nettlebed, Oxfordshire, March 1933
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            1

            Signing On

         

         It began with an advertisement in the Agony Column of The Times.

         I always read the Agony Column first, and the news (if there is time) afterwards. This is a practice which most people will deplore, saying that it argues, not only disrespect to a great journal, but an almost impudent lack of curiosity with regard to what are called World Events.

         I suppose they are right. But this is a dull life, and the only excuse for the existence of newspapers is that they should make it less dull. It is popularly supposed to be a good thing to know what happened in the world yesterday; but for my part I find it at least equally important to know what may be happening in the world to-day. I fail to see how anyone who has the industry to acquire, and the fortitude to assimilate without panic, a working knowledge of the morning’s news can find life any easier to face for the assurance that there is deadlock at Geneva, vacillation at Westminster, foot-and-mouth in Leicestershire, sabotage in Poland, and a slump in Kaffirs. I, on the other hand, without burdening my memory with a lot of facts of uncertain value and ephemeral validity — without even opening the paper — can start the day equipped with several agreeable and stimulating subjects for speculation. What strange kind of a creature can it be whose wolf-hound — now lost in Battersea Park — answers to the name of Effie? How will the Jolly Winter Sports Party (‘only sahibs need apply’) be finally constituted? Why is Bingo heart-broken? And what possible use can Box A have for a horned toad? 16

         It will be objected that these are frivolous and unprofitable topics for thought: that in these distressful times one ought to be concentrating on graver matters — on War Debts, and on finding fresh excuses for Japan. Theoretically, I know, there is a great deal in this. But at heart I am impenitent. At heart I prefer — and I am afraid I always shall prefer — the world of the Agony Column to that great stage of fools to which the editorial pages of The Times so faithfully hold up a mirror. The world of the Agony Column is a world of romance, across which sundered lovers are for ever hurrying to familiar rendezvous (‘same time, same place’): a world in which jewellery is constantly being left in taxi-cabs with destinations which must surely be compromising: a world of faded and rather desperate gentility, peopled largely by Old Etonians and ladies of title: a world of the most tremendous enterprise, in which Oxford B.A.s, though equipped only with five European languages, medium height and the ability to drive a car, are ready to ‘go anywhere, do anything’: a world of sudden and heroic sacrifices (‘owner going abroad’): a world in which every object has a sentimental value, every young man a good appearance, and only the highest references are exchanged: an anxious, urgent, cryptic world: a world in which anything may happen….

         
            ‘Exploring and sporting expedition, under experienced guidance, leaving England June, to explore rivers Central Brazil, if possible ascertain fate Colonel Fawcett; abundance game, big and small; exceptional fishing; ROOM TWO MORE GUNS; highest references expected and given.—Write Box X, The Times, E.C.4.’

         

         This is my favourite sort of advertisement. It had the right improbable ring to it. As I gazed, with all possible detachment, at a map of South America, I seemed to hear the glib and rapid voice of Münchausen, the clink of gold bricks. I had a curiously distinct vision (I don’t know why) of two men with red faces deciding, in the bar of the Royal Automobile Club, that what they wanted was 17 a couple of suckers to put up a thou. So wisdom prevailed; and for ten days, though I thought quite often about the interior of Brazil, I did nothing to increase my chances of exploring it.

         But on the tenth day, or thereabouts, I found myself reading a long article on the middle page of The Times which was clearly about this expedition. Its plans were outlined, its itinerary indicated, and the latest theories about Colonel Fawcett’s fate were discussed with that almost medieval disregard for the geographical facts involved of which I was shortly to become a leading exponent. So the thing really existed. The project was genuine. There was an expedition leaving England in June. And The Times took it seriously.

         This was altogether too much for me. I was still careful to pretend to myself that it would be out of the question for me to go to Brazil. It would cost too much and take too long; and it would be the act of a madman to throw up the literary editorship of the most august of weekly journals in favour of a wild-goose chase. All the same, I argued, it will do no harm to find out a little more about it….

         So I wrote to Box X asking for particulars, and presently got an answer from which it appeared that neither the time nor the money involved were as far beyond my means as I had expected. From that moment I gave up struggling with the inevitable. I wrote back and applied for an option on one of the vacancies in the expedition, which, I explained, I would not be in a position to take up definitely for another fortnight or so. In this letter I had meant to rehearse at considerable length my qualifications to take part in an enterprise of this sort, but when the time came these proved curiously indefinable. So I only put down my age (which was 24) and where I had been educated. As a regular reader of the Agony Column, I knew that this latter piece of information, though seemingly irrelevant, might well prove of the first importance; for by Agony Column standards an Old Boy is worth two young men.

         This verbal economy I have always believed was good policy. Surfeited with the self-portraiture of applicants who appeared, almost to a man, to be as strong as a horse, as brave as a lion, and to have some knowledge of commercial Spanish, Box X was instantly 18 attracted by my laconic method of approach. More letters were exchanged, a meeting took place, and before long I found myself committed — in the capacity of special correspondent to The Times — to a venture for which Rider Haggard might have written the plot and Conrad designed the scenery.

         
            
[image: ]Route of the expedition through Brazil
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            The Mystery of Colonel Fawcett

         

         The story of colonel fawcett is a curious and romantic one, and appears to have acquired in the eyes of editors an imperishable news value, on which the passage of time produces little or no effect. To judge by the press cuttings which I still receive, hardly a week passes in which some English newspaper does not make an apocryphal reference to the lost explorer. Fresh rumours are always coming in, fresh expeditions are always on the point of starting. The press has manufactured out of Colonel Fawcett’s fate one of the most popular of contemporary mysteries.

         The press had first-class material to work on. In the early summer of 1925, Colonel Fawcett, accompanied by his son Jack and another young Englishman called Raleigh Rimell — both in the early twenties — left the last outpost of civilization on the edge of an almost entirely unexplored region in the Central Brazilian Plateau. None of them has ever been heard of since.

         In more respects than one this was not an ordinary expedition. Its aims alone (in so far as they are known) were sufficient to invest it with a glamour even greater than that which normally attaches to the penetration of unknown and dangerous country. Fawcett was after a Lost World.

         Less, probably, is known about the interior of Matto Grosso than about any other inhabited area of equal size in the world. It was in 1925, it is to-day, and it is likely to remain for some time very largely virgin territory. Between the headwaters of the great northward-flowing tributaries of the Amazon — between the Araguaya and 20 the Xingú, between the Xingú and the Tapajos — there are huge tracts of jungle which no white man has even attempted to enter. You can believe what you like about those regions: no one has authority to contradict you. You can postulate the existence in them of prehistoric monsters, of white Indians, of ruined cities, of enormous lakes. Fawcett plumped for ruined cities.

         ‘It is certain,’ he wrote, not long before his disappearance, ‘that amazing ruins of ancient cities — ruins incomparably older than those in Egypt — exist in the far interior of Matto Grosso.’ He had long held this theory, which was based specifically on a document* discovered in the archives at Rio de Janeiro. This document was the log of a Portuguese expedition, and it told the following story:

         In 1743 a small party consisting of six Portuguese and a dozen negro slaves, with a train of 20 to 30 Indians, set out in quest of some half-fabulous silver and gold mines, the secret of which had perished in 1622 with their original discoverer, a half-Portuguese, half-Indian soldier of fortune. The expedition went north from Minas Geraes. Eleven years later the survivors were heard of in the coastal regions of Bahia; but they never reappeared.

         In the heart of the Central Plateau they came on a sudden jagged range of mountains. Climbing up a crevice in the precipitous sides, they emerged on a rich table-land and saw before them the outlines of a city — a city massively built with huge blocks of stone and absolutely deserted; it appeared to have been devastated by an earthquake. The expedition’s report describes at some length its buildings and monuments, which seem to have been chiefly remarkable for the fact that they were just the sort of thing you would expect to find in a ruined city of terrific antiquity. But it describes them in considerable detail, and appends copies of the hieroglyphic inscriptions seen on some of them; so there is some foundation for Fawcett’s contention that the story is too circumstantial to be dismissed, and that ‘its details are beyond the imagination of more or less illiterate people’.

         The expedition found a few gold coins and a number of mine shafts, and gold could be panned in large quantities in the local river. 21 But their leader was anxious to return to civilization and organize a party sufficiently large and well-equipped to exploit their discovery; so they left the city and headed for the distant Atlantic coast, though not before they had caught sight of two of those men with white skins and long black hair to whose existence somewhere in the Central Plateau so many early reports testify. From the River Paraguassú the expedition sent on its report by Indian runner to the Viceroy at Bahia; and that was the last that anybody heard of them. Whether they got lost, or whether their Indians deserted them, they never reached the coast. Their report was pigeon-holed, to be unearthed in the middle of the nineteenth century, when the Brazilian Government made a half-hearted and unsuccessful attempt to find this exceptionally well-appointed cradle of a lost civilization. 

         Its whereabouts, wrote Fawcett in 1925, were known — ‘so far as the general location and surrounding topography are concerned’ — to only three men. ‘One was a Frenchman, whose last attempt to get there cost him an eye, and it is probable he will make no more; the second is an Englishman who before he left the country was suffering from an advanced stage of cancer, and is probably no longer alive; the third is the writer.’

         The writer was peculiarly well qualified to make the most of his exclusive knowledge. Lt.-Col. P. H. Fawcett, D.S.O., had a remarkable record. He was a rare combination of the mystic and the man of action. As a subaltern in the Royal Artillery (on the list of whose officers his name still appears), he served for seven or eight years at Trincomalee, where he became deeply interested in Buddhism, and where he spent all his available leave and money on a fruitless search, carried out with the aid of a cryptic map, for the buried treasure of the Kandyan Kings. He was a Founder’s Medallist of the Royal Geographical Society, and from 1906 to 1909 he was lent to the Bolivian Government, for whom he surveyed a long and excessively unhealthy sector of the Brazilian–Bolivian frontier. He made several other expeditions in those parts of South America, and was out there when the war broke out; he returned to serve with distinction on the Western Front. As soon as he was demobilized 22 he went back to Brazil, and until the time of his disappearance concentrated all his energies on the quest for his Lost City. In 1920 he made an abortive attempt to penetrate the regions north of Cuyabá, the capital of the state of Matto Grosso; but the expedition was held up by floods, and his companions broke down. Fawcett had to turn back.

         It was not a thing he was accustomed to doing. He was a man of indomitable courage, and his powers of endurance were extraordinary. Insects, fever, and privation had no effect on him; time and again in his travels he outlasted the men who were with him. The problem of personnel was accordingly one to which he had given the closest attention, and the way in which he solved it in 1925 was not the least remarkable feature of his desperate venture.

         ‘All exploration across, as opposed to expeditions into these regions depends for its success on the selection of a limited personnel, able, if need be, to do without transport under extremely trying conditions,’ Fawcett wrote. Pack animals were out of the question; water was too unreliable, the cover too dense, and the various insect pests too ubiquitous and too destructive for horses, mules, or oxen to survive a long journey. Nor could you depend on the obvious alternative — porters; for most of the tribes fear and hate their neighbours, and Indians will rarely accompany you beyond the limits of their own territory. Moreover, there was the food problem; ‘game’, wrote Fawcett, ‘is nowhere plentiful in this country; there is usually enough to feed a small party, but never a large one’. So he took with him, as I have said, only his son and one other young Englishman. They carried their own provisions and equipment, and even when they started they must have been travelling dangerously light.

         Fawcett kept very quiet about his plans, which to this day are known only in their general and exceedingly ambitious outline; he did not want to blaze the trail to his private Atlantis. It appears that he hoped to travel north from Cuyabá to somewhere about lat. 10 south, and then turn east through the heart of that huge stretch of unknown country between the Xingú and the Araguaya. 23Here, in the Serra do Roncador, or Snoring Mountains (an entirely imaginary range of hills, as is now known), he expected to find his Lost City. I am convinced that his journey, as contemplated, was not impossible; but it would be hard to find one that was much more difficult and dangerous. It is easy enough — as you will learn, if you manage to read this book — to penetrate those regions by water. It is when you leave the rivers and strike across country that the trouble begins.

         On April 20th, 1925, Fawcett and his two companions set off from Cuyabá with two guides. They went north over the same trail that Fawcett had followed in 1920, and on May 29th they reached a place called Dead Horse Camp, where one of Fawcett’s animals had died on his previous expedition. From Dead Horse Camp Fawcett sent back his last despatch to the North American Newspaper Alliance, which had helped to finance him. It is dated May 30th, and it ends:

         
            ‘Our two guides go back from here. They are more and more nervous as we push further into the Indian country … I shall continue to prepare despatches from time to time, in hopes of being able to get them out eventually through some friendly tribe of Indians. But I doubt if this will be possible.’

         

         It was not possible. Since that day there has been no authentic news of Fawcett. He had warned his friends that he expected to be out of touch for at least two years, and that a prolonged absence was more likely to mean success than failure. But by 1927 it was obvious that there was cause for grave anxiety, and enquiries were addressed to the Brazilian Government through H.M. Ambassador at Rio de Janeiro. Two or three months later the Brazilian Government replied that their officials in the interior had failed to trace Colonel Fawcett, and that it was to be feared that his party had perished.

         It was to be feared …; but it was not certain. Here was the most universally attractive kind of mystery, and the public pounced on it. Fawcett’s wife gallantly proclaimed her faith in her husband’s 24 survival: a faith which the passage of eight years has not shaken, and which is strengthened from time to time by telepathic communications through various intermediaries. (According to many of these messages, the explorer is not only safe, but has reached his Lost City, of which the residential amenities are considerable.)

         In 1927 the Colonel’s fate offered a fascinating field for speculation. Was he alive? Was he the captive of an Indian tribe? Had he been made a god? Had he voluntarily renounced civilization in favour of the jungle? These and many other alternatives were debated hotly. They are still being debated to-day; before me lies an article from a Sunday paper of recent date, headed ‘Is Jack Fawcett Buddha?’

         In a good year you will get as many as three or four travellers who claim to have met and spoken to Colonel Fawcett at some not very precisely indicated spot in the Brazilian interior. The first in the field was a Frenchman, who shared with Shakespeare both the habit of spelling his name in a number of different ways and a tendency to underrate the value of plausibility. The press gave a great deal of prominence to his story, of which the final version was that the Frenchman had been shooting alligators near Cuyabá with a friend, when his attention had been momentarily distracted from this manly pastime by the sight of an old bearded man sitting by the side of the road being bitten by mosquitoes. They exchanged a few remarks in English on the subject of insect life in the tropics (the old man revealing a rather pleasant vein of irony) and then they parted. Nobody seriously supposed that they would ever see each other again, and before long the Frenchman and his story were forgotten.

         The first important development in the Fawcett case was a full-blown relief expedition. It was led by Commander George Dyott, and was largely financed by an American newspaper syndicate. In May 1928 the expedition followed Fawcett’s three-year-old trail northward from Cuyabá;† but it did not follow his precepts in the matter of equipment. Dyott started with 64 bullocks, 10 mules, and 26 men; his companions were two camera-men and two wireless operators. This well-provided but cumbrous party 25 accomplished a great deal. Dyott traced Fawcett from Dead Horse Camp down the Rio Kuliseu to a village of the Anauqua Indians, where the chief’s son had a small brass plate hanging round his neck, stamped with the name of a firm in the City which had supplied Fawcett with some airtight cases in 1924. Aloique, the chief in question, guided Dyott on the three days’ journey across country to the Rio Kuluene, the banks of which are inhabited at that point by the Kalapalos Indians. 

         Here Dyott was told — in sign-language — both by Aloique and by the Kalapalos that Fawcett and his two companions had reached the Kuluene in 1925, and that although both young men were lame and exhausted Fawcett had taken them on, after a short rest, into the unknown country lying east of the river. For five days the watching Indians had seen smoke from their fires, as they blazed their way through the tall grass of the campo; on the sixth there had been no smoke, and Dyott’s informants described in pantomime the tragedy which its absence indicated. They were convinced that the party had been massacred, and their evidence differed only in that Aloique named as Fawcett’s murderers the Suyá Indians, while the Kalapalos suspected Aloique’s own people, the Anauquas.

         Dyott was then within four or five days’ march of the place where Fawcett met his death, and Aloique said that the bones were still there. The main body of the expedition had continued down the Kuliseu to its point of confluence with the Kuluene, and Dyott, who mistrusted Aloique’s motives, decided to rejoin them before returning with his companions to visit the scene of the tragedy. This, as it turned out, he was never able to do. He found the camp at the junction of the two rivers full of Indians, importunate in their demands for the knives and trinkets which he had distributed at first with perhaps too lavish a generosity, and he did not like their attitude. Moreover, he was running short of food. So under cover of night he slipped off down the Xingù in light canoes, jettisoning many hundreds of feet of film to facilitate his escape, and pausing only (when he was out of reach) to announce to the world by wireless that he was surrounded by Indians. 26

         So Dyott, if the information given him was reliable, cleared up all the stages of Fawcett’s journey except the last; he narrowed down the area in which it would be profitable (for those who find a profit in such things) to investigate the circumstances of what must clearly be regarded as a tragedy. I remember that in London I was inclined to be scornful of Dyott’s failure to bring back final and conclusive proof of Fawcett’s fate when it was so nearly in his grasp; I am not scornful now that I have seen something of the difficulties with which he had to contend.

         After Dyott’s return to civilization in the autumn of 1928 no further light was thrown on the Fawcett mystery for some time, and as the years passed the chances of Fawcett being alive became more and more remote. Then, suddenly, in March 1932, a month before I saw that advertisement in the Agony Column, a Swiss called Stephan Rattin turned up at the British Consulate at São Paulo with a very curious story. He said that he was a trapper (though what he trapped, and where he sold the skins, was never made clear) and that in the preceding year he had made a prodigious journey into the heart of Matto Grosso, in a direction roughly NNW. of Cuyabá, along the Rio Arinos. Somewhere near the point marked R on the map he had found a white man in an Indian village; a tall man, advanced in years, with blue eyes and a long beard. He was a captive, and very disconsolate. Under cover of a drinking bout in which the Indians were indulging, Rattin got a few words with the prisoner, who was dressed (in the approved style) in skins.

         They conversed in English; and although this was a language in which Rattin was by no means proficient he did not explain why they did not use Spanish or Portuguese. The old man opened the conversation by announcing that he was a colonel in the English army, and implored Rattin to inform a friend of his in São Paulo, called Paget, of his plight. (It subsequently transpired that a Major J. B. Paget had helped to finance Fawcett’s last expedition.) The old man showed Rattin a signet ring, the description of which, according to Mrs. Fawcett, corresponds to a ring which her husband 27 always wore; and he made some reference — showing signs of great distress — to his son, who he said was ‘asleep’. Rattin promised to go to São Paulo and deliver the message to Major Paget; and at dawn he departed on a journey which was to take him five months. The Indians made no attempt to detain him.

         The verbatim report of Rattin’s statement to the British Consul-General at São Paulo is a curious document, full of discrepancies and inconsistencies, yet stamped with that rather dream-like inconsequence which is often the hall-mark of reality. Why did the white man disclose only his rank, and not his name? Why did they talk in English? Why did Rattin — who used a pencil and paper to copy some meaningless carvings which the white man had made on a tree — bring back no written message? If Rattin’s story was a fabrication, these are points at which he could hardly have overlooked the necessity for strengthening its verisimilitude. The more one looked at it, the more surely one was forced to the conclusion that if Rattin was a liar, he was a very bad liar.

         Yet there are other details in his statement which, if they had no foundation in fact, were brilliant inventions: notably the bit about the iodine. Rattin said that the backs of the old man’s hands were badly scratched, and that he took out some iodine and dabbed it on them; when the Indians saw him doing this, they crowded round and tried to paint their faces with the stuff. If that never happened, how could one reconcile such a subtle piece of circumstantial decoration with the fundamental improbabilities of Rattin’s story? The mind that so cunningly evolved the one could hardly have bungled the other so sadly.

         Besides, if the whole thing was an invention, what did Rattin hope to gain by it? He made out that he had never heard of Fawcett before; and now, finding himself acclaimed on all sides as the discoverer of the lost explorer, he hardly made the most of his opportunities for acquiring fame and wealth. He said that he was prepared, and indeed determined to lead an expedition back to the Indian village and bring the prisoner out. But it must be a small expedition, and its members of his own choosing. He asked only for 28 a little money to defray expenses; and if that was not forthcoming he would effect the rescue on his own.

         His story received world-wide publicity. But in May, two months after his appearance in São Paulo, no one in England knew what its sequel was going to be. Interest in Fawcett had suddenly been re-awakened, and the odds against the explorer’s survival had shortened dramatically. It looked as if our expedition was a timely phenomenon.

         
            * Manuscript No. 512, Biblioteca Nacional, Rio de Janeiro.

            † See the map on p.18
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            No Nonsense

         

         I know of few keener intellectual pleasures than that which can be derived from listening to two old men talking about Modern Youth and the Spirit of Adventure.

         They always take the same line. For the first time in our rough island story, they complain, young men have ceased to be adventurous.

         What do they mean by adventure? They mean what popular historians of the Elizabethan age have taught them to mean. They mean the Wide World Magazine, slightly lyricized by a Muse who seems to have had something to do with both Rudyard Kipling and Rupert Brooke. They mean travelling steerage, and topees, and stockades, and husbanding every drop of the precious fluid, and planting the Union Jack, and going down with fever, and at the end of it all a sheaf of assegais over the sideboard and a slight limp. You don’t find young men doing that sort of thing nowadays, they mutter gloomily, shaking their heads and staring with horrified fascination at photographs of the latest fancy dress party in the Tatler.

         They are quite right. You don’t. For adventure — adventure in the grand old manner — is obsolete, having been either exalted to a specialist’s job or degraded to a stunt. It is all very well to cheapen us against the Elizabethans, for whom every other landfall meant a colony. In those days all you needed was an enquiring turn of mind and a profound contempt for scurvy and Spaniards. A passage on any boat with a sufficiently conjectural destination was almost certain to make an Empire builder of you. And since on those journeys every 30 able-bodied man was useful, you were entitled to feel that you were doing something worth doing. Nobody accused you of wanting balance, or said that it was time you settled down. The community capitalized your wanderlust. Restlessness was good citizenship.

         But the age of geographical discovery has gone, and so has the age of territorial annexation. Experts are quietly consolidating the gains of spectacular amateurs. In Darien to-day a pair of eagle eyes is not much good unless you have also a theodolite. A wild surmise will not do. As for planting the Union Jack, those portions of the earth’s surface where such an action could have any lasting political significance are very few and (I strongly suspect) entirely valueless from the economic, the strategic, and the residential point of view.

         Of course there is still plenty of adventure of a sort to be had. You can even make it pay, with a little care; for it is easy to attract public attention to any exploit which is at once highly improbable and absolutely useless. You can lay the foundations of a brief but glorious career on the Music Halls by being the First Girl Mother To Swim Twice Round The Isle Of Man; and anyone who successfully undertakes to drive a well-known make of car along the Great Wall of China in reverse will hardly fail of his reward. And then there are always records to be broken. Here you can make some show of keeping within the best traditions, and set out to take the Illustrious Dead down a peg by repeating their exploits with a difference. Rivers which they ascended in small boats you can ascend in smaller; if they took five months to cross a desert, go and see if you can do it in four. Where they went in litters, you can ride; where they went on mules, you can go on foot: and where they went on foot, you can go (for all I care) on roller-skates. It is a silly business, this statistical eye-wiping. These spurious and calculated feats bear about as much relation to adventure as a giant gooseberry does to agriculture.

         The old men who grumble that modern youth is not adventurous make two cardinal mistakes. They fail to appreciate the facts, and they have got their values all wrong.

         The facts are that four male children out of five start life predisposed in favour of adventure. This has always been so, and 31 it is so to-day. Young men are just as adventurous in 1933 as they ever were. But they can see with one eye that chances of any form of useful or profitable adventure are very rare indeed. If they have the time and the money to equip themselves with a more than ordinary knowledge of surveying, or tropical hygiene, or marine zoology, or (of course) aviation, they can put themselves in a position to take one of these rare chances. Or, again, if they have the time and the money, they can take as much adventure of the picaresque, irresponsible kind as their stomachs and the far-flung consulates will stand. But few of them can afford either the time or the money. So they give up all thoughts of a topee, buy a bowler, and start working at jobs which are almost always, at first, drab and uncongenial. This is a very good thing for the country and everyone else concerned; and it reflects great credit on the young men.

         For (and this is where clubland gets its values wrong) adventure is really a soft option. Adventure has always been a selfish business. Men who set out to find it may — like men who go and get married — feel reasonably confident that a successful issue to their project will be of service to the world. But the desire to benefit the community is never their principal motive, any more than it is the principal motive of people who marry each other. They do it because they want to. It suits them; it is their cup of tea.

         So it requires far less courage to be an explorer than to be a chartered accountant. The courage which enables you to face the prospect of sitting on a high stool in a smoky town and adding up figures over a period of years is definitely a higher, as well as a more useful, sort of courage than any which the explorer may be called on to display. For the explorer is living under natural conditions, and the difficulties he meets with are the sort of difficulties which Nature equipped man to face: whereas the chartered accountant is living under unnatural conditions, to which a great deal of his equipment is dangerously ill-suited. Moreover, and finally, the chartered accountant is doing an essential job, and the explorer (in these days) is not.

         All this must sound as if, at one time or another, I had done a good deal of exploring, filling in the intervals with strenuous bouts 32 of research into the Psychology of Chartered Accountancy. Alas, neither of these deductions would be correct. I had not meant to theorize so abominably. I only wanted to make it clear that, in my view, to sign on to an expedition bound for the interior of Brazil is neither laudable nor extraordinary, but rather the reverse. Most people of my age would do it like a shot, if they had the chance. But they don’t have the chance, and they have wisely given up hoping for the chance. In many cases, indeed, they have schooled themselves with almost too complete a success to eschew the coloured dreams of boyhood. By quite forgoing those dreams, they have all but forgotten that they ever had them. At least, that is how I explain the fact that, in those six fantastic weeks before I sailed to Brazil, the people to whom I told my plans showed less envy and more amazement than I had expected.

         I kept as quiet about the whole thing as I reasonably could, for it is unpleasant to be regarded as either a lunatic or a hero when you know perfectly well that you are merely going to take an exceptionally long holiday. All the same, it was amusing and instructive to watch people’s reactions.

         There were the Prudent, who said: ‘This is an extraordinarily foolish thing to do.’ There were the Wise, who said: ‘This is an extraordinarily foolish thing to do; but at least you will know better next time.’ There were the Very Wise, who said: ‘This is a foolish thing to do, but not nearly so foolish as it sounds.’ There were the Romantic, who appeared to believe that if everyone did this sort of thing all the time the world’s troubles would soon be over. There were the Envious, who thanked God they were not coming; and there were the other sort, who said with varying degrees of insincerity that they would give anything to come. There were the Correct, who asked me if I knew any of the people at the Embassy. There were the Practical, who spoke at length of inoculations and calibres. There were the people whose geography was not their strong point, and who either offered me letters of introduction to their cousins in Buenos Aires or supposed that I would find a good many Aztec ruins. There were the Apprehensive, who asked me if I 33 had made my will. There were the Men Who Had Done A Certain Amount of That Sort of Thing In Their Time, You Know, and these imparted to me elaborate stratagems for getting the better of ants and told me that monkeys made excellent eating, and so for that matter did lizards, and parrots; they all tasted rather like chicken. (The only person in this category whose advice proved valuable was Mr. Siemel, better known to the reading public as Tiger Man: we had an interview with him in London and I retain memories of a charming and impressive personality.)

         Then there were the numerous and kindly people who wrote to me after I had given a talk for the B.B.C. about our projected search for Fawcett. Most of these wanted to come too. One of them offered his services as cook, adding that he had a fair knowledge of Arabic; another sent me a sword-stick. One lady asked me to have a look for her nephew, while I was about it; he had disappeared in Bolivia several years ago. ‘In appearance he resembles the Duke of York, with beautifully shaped hands and feet … I am a steady reviewer of fiction (two books per day),’ she wrote: and added, rather surprisingly, ‘This does not encourage illusions, nor blind one’s eyes to Life in the raw.’ I wrote back and said that I would keep a sharp look-out for her nephew.

      

   


   
      
         
            4

            Outlook Unsettled

         

         There are, i suppose, expeditions and expeditions. I must say that during those six weeks in London it looked as if ours was not going to qualify for either category. Our official leader (hereinafter referred to as Bob) had just the right air of intrepidity. Our Organizer, on the other hand, appeared to have been miscast, in spite of his professional-looking beard. A man of great charm, he was nevertheless a little imprecise. He had once done some shooting in Brazil, and we used to gaze with respect at his photographs of unimaginable fish and the corpses (or, as it turned out later, corpse) of the jaguars he had killed. But when pressed for details of our own itinerary he could only refer us to a huge, brightly-coloured, and obsolete map of South America, on which the railway line between Rio and São Paulo had been heavily marked in ink. ‘From São Paulo,’ he would say, ‘we shall go up-country by lorry. It is cheaper and quicker than the train.’ Or, alternatively: ‘The railway will take us right into the interior. It costs less than going by road, and we shall save time, too.’ It was clear that Bob, for all his intrepidity, viewed our Organizer’s vagueness with apprehension.

         At the other end — in Brazil, that is to say — the expedition’s interests were said to be in capable hands. Captain John Holman, a British resident of São Paulo whose knowledge of the interior is equalled by few Europeans, had expressed his willingness to do all in his power to assist us. On our arrival in Brazil, as you will hear, this gentleman proved a powerful, indeed an indispensable ally; but at this early stage of the expedition’s history our Organizer hardly 35 made the most of him, and Captain Holman was handicapped by the scanty information which he received with regard to our intentions. In London we were given to understand that the man who really mattered was a Major Pingle — George Lewy Pingle. (That is not his name. You can regard him as an imaginary character, if you like. He is no longer quite real to me.)

         Major Pingle is an American citizen, holding — or claiming to hold — a commission in the Peruvian army. He has had an active and a varied career. According to his own story, he ran away from his home in Kentucky at the age of 15; joined a circus which was touring the Southern States: found his way across the Mexican border: worked for some time on a ranch near Monterey: accompanied an archaeological expedition into Yucatan, where he nearly died of fever: went north to convalesce in California: joined the ground staff of an aerodrome there and became (of all things) a professional parachutist: went into partnership with a German, whose ambition it was to start an air-line in South America: and since then had travelled widely in Colombia, Peru, Chile, and Brazil. All this, of course, we found out later. All we knew, or thought we knew, in London was that Major Pingle was a man of wide experience and sterling worth who had once accompanied our Organizer on a sporting expedition in Brazil, and who was even now preparing for our arrival in Brazil — buying stores, hiring guides, and doing everything possible to facilitate our journey. A great deal, obviously, was going to depend on Major Pingle. ‘This Major Pingle,’ I used to tell people, ‘is going to be the Key Man.’

         It was difficult to visualize Major Pingle, all those miles away. The only thing we knew for certain about him was that he was not very good at answering cables. This, we were told, was because he must have gone up-country already, to get things ready. Whatever the cause, however, very imperfect liaison existed between his headquarters in São Paulo and ours in London; and when a letter did at last reach London from Brazil, our Organizer lost it. So it was impossible to find out definitely whether Major Pingle’s preparations were being made in the light of our plans, or whether 36 our plans were being made to fit his preparations, or neither, or both. It was all rather uncertain.

         Before we left London, however, we did eventually evolve a plan of operations, which was (unfortunately) announced at some length in The Times on the eve of our departure. We decided to rely on Dyott’s rather than on Rattin’s evidence, and to make our objective the area marked A on the map on page 18. (The spot where Rattin claimed to have seen his white man is roughly indicated by R.) None of us believed for a moment that Fawcett was alive, and we were careful to stress the fact that the solution of the mystery surrounding his disappearance was only our secondary object. Our primary purpose, we said, was to survey and map the Rio das Mortes, freely translated by The Times as ‘The River of Death’. (It was not until we reached Brazil that we discovered that perfectly satisfactory maps of this river already existed.)

         ‘The River of Death’, I wrote in The Times, ‘got its name in the old slave-trading days. A Portuguese explorer found good gold up the river and, returning to the coast, formed an exploration company to work the deposit. A party of Brazilians followed the prospectors and attempted to jump the claim. A fight took place, in which both sides suffered severely; but the issue must remain a matter for conjecture, since the Indians massacred all the survivors. But the river’s name, although a survival, is not an anomaly. The River of Death flows through the heart of a region inhabited by the Chavantes, a tribe of Indians whose uncompromising hostility and whose mastery of the arts of jungle warfare have won them an unenviable reputation in Matto Grosso.’

         The expedition, I continued, would go up-country from São Paulo by train and motor lorry; would embark on the Araguaya at Leopoldina; and would travel down it in canoes as far as the mouth of the Rio das Mortes. We should then push as far up that river as possible, and form a standing camp on its banks. With this camp as base, we hoped that it would be possible for some of us to strike westwards across unknown country to the point near the Kuluene where Dyott believed Fawcett to have perished. There followed a 37 summary of the theories about Fawcett, and an imaginative but restrained description of the country and its ferocious inhabitants. Our chief obstacle, I said (and believed), was going to lie in the unreasonable prejudices of the aboriginal population.

         
             

         

         The observant reader will have noticed that the writer of The Times article from which I have quoted shows a healthy respect for the tribes of the interior. I hope his anticipations have not been unduly aroused. What with these early indications of an Indian menace, and what with all my dogmatizing about adventure, the observant reader is probably relying on me to curdle his blood for him before we go much further. As chapter gives place to chapter, and still no arrows stick quivering in the tent-pole, and still no tomtoms throb their beastly summons to the night assault, the observant reader will get pretty fed up. ‘This chap’, he will say, ‘led me to suppose that, once in the interior of Brazil, he would be under almost continuous fire from his dusky brethren. And now here he is in the last chapter proposing to lay down his pen without having sustained so much as a flesh wound from their primitive weapons.’

         I see the observant reader’s point. Perhaps I had better meet it in advance by explaining one of the more fundamental misapprehensions which existed, in London, with regard to the expedition’s activities.

         It was our Organizer who started it. Our Organizer was one of those people who have the most tremendous difficulty in distinguishing between the real and the ideal. In his accounts of Brazil the actual was inextricably confused with the apocryphal. Fact and fancy presented a united and imposing front, with truth, a closely-guarded hostage, far back in reserve. Now it is common knowledge that a great many of the tribes in Matto Grosso are hostile to white men; and it does so happen that the Chavantes, who are as bad as the worst of them, command about 100 miles of the west bank of the Araguaya. When we got to know him better, we saw how inevitable it was that our Organizer should have got 38 it into his head that one morning, before breakfast, he had been called on to repel an attack by these savages, of whom he had killed no less than 16. Naturally, he said, one didn’t talk much about these things, and we said, No, naturally one didn’t.

         But a manly reticence was not enough. Deeds were our trouble, not words. All purchases of equipment were made on the assumption that a Brush with the Natives was the first — and must not be the last — item on our programme. Three automatic shotguns — one with a sawn-off barrel — were to be the spearhead of our defence. According to our Organizer, tests carried out during the War (though it was not quite clear on whom) had proved these weapons to be of unrivalled efficacy in Stopping a Rush at Close Quarters. Cartridges specially loaded with buckshot increased our chances of survival, if not of solvency.* Our last acquisition before leaving England was a quantity of tear-gas bombs. These, as far as I can remember, were thrown overboard before we reached Rio, to avoid trouble with the Customs.

         
             

         

         Then there was the question of The Films. It had somehow been assumed from the start that we should have at least one, and probably two camera-men with us. Since we were going into an unknown part of the world, and on a quest which, if successful, would automatically attract a good deal of attention, this seemed a fairly reasonable assumption. When I signed on, I was put in charge of negotiations with the film companies.

         This was my own fault. I often find myself — among people who know nothing about the cinema at all — giving the impression that I know rather a lot, and have indeed, at some period not specified and in a capacity which it would perhaps be difficult to define, been connected with the industry. In a sense, this second impression is correct; but only in a sense. At the age of 11, on the Dorset coast, I acted in a film which (had it ever been released) would have depicted the life of the English schoolboy to an expectant — and 39 I hope a credulous — world. I had two parts in it, neither of them very big ones. In the first I had to dive off a rock into the sea, registering pleasure. About 60 or 70 of my fellow-pupils had to do the same thing at the same time; it was a difficult scene to steal. All the same, I believe that I gave as sensitive a performance as any, and I can well remember the chagrin and resentment with which we learnt that this scene would have to be cut, owing to our not having worn bathing-dresses. My other part I felt less at home in. A particular enemy of mine happened to have won a scholarship somewhere that term, and in the film about thirty of us had to carry him in triumph round the school grounds, cheering. This ridiculous ceremony was extremely distasteful to me, and to represent it as a traditional feature of our school life exceeded, in my opinion, the bounds of dramatic licence. I was reluctant, naturally and healthily reluctant, that the world should see me paying extravagant homage to a purely intellectual achievement. I am convinced that I did myself scant justice in the part. Luckily no one, as far as I know, ever saw the film, which was taken on a very hot half-holiday by a man in a Guards tie and a leather overcoat. 

         After that my film career lapsed for several years, only to be taken up again at Oxford, where an ineffectual British film company attempted the difficult task of translating University life into terms of the cinema. In their genteel though turgid drama I played the part of five undergraduates (or ‘undergrads.’, as they were called) and one Anglo-Saxon knight, or thane. This film was not released either: mercifully. About a year later I spent a week in Paramount’s studios on Long Island. Here, however, I did nothing except apologize to people for getting in their way, and marvel at Miss Claudette Colbert’s ability, through a score of retakes, to say, ‘My, you’re looking fine!’ with unabated conviction to a man with a primrose-coloured face. That was the end of my connection with the cinema, unless of course you imagine that the writing of film-criticism implies, because it requires, an understanding of the art: which is as silly as to suppose that a small boy has to be something of a glazier before he can use his catapult. 40

         But to return to Brazil, or at any rate to the road thither. I mentioned this matter of the films because — although, providentially, nothing came of it — it added another element of the fantastic and the problematical to the comedy of our preparations in London. Our Organizer’s original theory that the more powerful magnates would stop at nothing in the scramble for the film rights of the expedition may have been psychologically sound: for everyone knows what an unscrupulous lot these magnates are. But unfortunately no scramble took place. Any insight which I might have hoped to acquire into the competitive methods of magnates was denied me. Approached, the magnates showed a tendency to have just gone out to lunch. It was Their Mr. So and So who received me: Their Mr. So and So who, when our interview was early interrupted by an entrancing creature in an aquascutum and a ballet skirt, was clearly bent on keeping his promise to ‘be along in a tick’: Their Mr. So and So whose faith in the dramatic possibilities of virgin jungle could be gauged, only too easily, by his far from covert glances at a startling wrist watch: Their Mr. So and So who, with a warmth only to be explained by my imminent departure, wished me an interesting trip.

         Nothing came of the film idea.

         The best thing that happened to the expedition during this period was the acquisition of Roger. This took place in the following way:

         Roger was walking along Gower Street. He had passed the School of Tropical Hygiene. He had passed the Royal Academy of Dramatic Art. In one minute, in less than one minute, he would have reached the Slade: would have spent the afternoon mixing blue and yellow and making green (or whatever it is that artists do): would never have heard of the expedition, for Roger is an inconstant reader of The Times.

         By one of those coincidences which (as novelists are always careful to say) would hardly pass muster in a work of fiction, I came out in a great hurry from my office on the other side of Gower Street just as Roger passed. At Eton and at Oxford I had known him only by sight. In the last three years I had met him three times. But here 41 was a fine large chap with an eye for comedy: so I called across the street: ‘Roger, come to Brazil.’

         ‘What?’ said Roger: playing, I dare say, for time.

         ‘You’d better come to Brazil,’ I said, getting into a car.

         ‘Why?’ said Roger cautiously (or perhaps incautiously), also getting into the car. We set off down Gower Street: past the Royal Academy of Dramatic Art: past the School of Tropical Hygiene. I talked rapidly. At the end of Gower Street Roger got out.

         ‘I’ll let you know for certain on Monday,’ he said. But his fate was sealed.

         Pure coincidence is a rare commodity. About three months later I was sitting over a fire in the middle of a chill night without a moon. A small river brushed quietly past our sandbank. Trees — too many trees — stood up all round us. No white man had ever been to this place before, and probably none would ever come there again. Broadly speaking, we were as far as it was possible to be from anywhere. In his burrow, roofed over with branches against the mosquitoes, a one-eyed Brazilian snored with all the passion of the south. Roger was the only other person present. He also was asleep. As I watched him, it suddenly occurred to me that here was the perfect, the flawless example of a pure coincidence.

         If the Recording Angel, collecting advance data for his dossiers, had suddenly swooped down between the drought-sapped branches, woken Roger up, and said to him: ‘Explain your conduct, please. I observe that you are sleeping — not at all soundly, on account of the mosquitoes — beside a river which is marked on no map, inside one of the biggest tracts of unexplored territory in the world. I understand that you are looking for traces of a complete stranger whom you believe to have perished more than seven years ago. Would you mind telling me why you are doing this — what is the prime and fundamental cause of your being in so improbable a situation?’ — If this question had been put to him, Roger could have given only one answer. He must have said: ‘I am here, in the last analysis, because on the 20th of May last I walked down Gower Street at precisely the time I did. If I had been a minute earlier or a minute later — if 42 I had not stopped to buy an evening paper, or if my shoe-lace had broken — I should not be here. You can’t have anything much more fundamental than that. I hope you are satisfied.’ And the Recording Angel, too often embarrassed with a wealth of motive, a luxuriance of contributory circumstances, would have flown off well pleased with a case thus simple and explicit. Or so I figured, while the mosquitoes exulted over the victim of coincidence.

         For me, the enrolment of Roger made the whole expedition at once more and less plausible. More, because here at last was a member with some technical qualification for the task in hand (Roger had some knowledge of surveying, which he proceeded forthwith to increase at the Royal Geographical Society). Less, because two heads were better able than one to appreciate the harebrained nature of our enterprise, and the childish inadequacy (so far) of our methods. For, in spite of our official plan, it was clear by this time that no one really knew where we were going or why we were going there, or whether it wouldn’t perhaps be better to go somewhere else instead.

         In our more rational moments we fell back on a kind of lackadaisical fatalism; when we got out there, Roger and I used to remind each other, the possible and the impossible, the probable and the improbable, would sort themselves out automatically. But our laissez-faire broke down whenever we looked at a map of Brazil. This never failed to throw us into a sort of frenzy. At that time there was no map available in London which was either sufficiently accurate or sufficiently detailed to be of the slightest use to us; and this fact, after a comparison of the best we could find, we had the sense to suspect. Even so, at the sight of a map we would go into a species of trance or fit. Our manner would become judicious, calculating, alert. We would bandy place-names which we afterwards found meant even less to the inhabitants of those parts than they did to us. We would gauge the navigability of non-existent rivers, and wrangle over the height of ranges with which the cartographers (those visionaries, those humorists) had arbitrarily embossed the plateau which was to be our goal. 43

         Perhaps the best moment of all was when we learnt, from a paragraph in a Sunday newspaper, that Rattin had started once more for the interior. He was on his way back to rescue his white man, and he had with him two or three companions, one of whom was acting as correspondent for an American news agency. For three successive weeks the same paper recorded their progress across the last frontiers of civilization; and after that a silence fell which has not been broken, so far as I know, up to the time of writing.

         But before it fell Roger and I had become feverishly excited. All the convincing aspects of Rattin’s story presented themselves to us with overwhelming force; its inconsistencies were forgotten. Rattin must be on to something, we argued; and if it was not Fawcett, one lost colonel was as good as another, after all. We followed Rattin across the map with frantic guesswork, as one follows a flea across a counterpane. I remember well the faces of the editorial staff of The Times as I outlined a scheme (which was at the time very dear to me) for flying up to Cuyabá with a cage of carrier pigeons and following Rattin down the Rio Arinos by canoe: the theory being that, even if he found his man before we caught him, those pigeons of ours would get the news back first. The Times declined to use its influence to alter the nature of the expedition. But it declined with ill-concealed reluctance; there was a wistful, a hankering look in its august official eye.

         The Times did however assist and even encourage the concoction of a code in which despatches were to be transmitted. Based on the tragedy of Othello (with which I happen to be particularly familiar) its genesis was due to the theory, then prevalent, that we should find ourselves involved in some kind of a race with rival journalistic interests. Othello was to stand for Fawcett, Iago for Rattin; and there were endless permutations and combinations deriving from the text of the play.

         In the end, of course, hardly any of the hopes and fears which I have outlined in the preceding pages came anywhere near to being realized. But I should have done wrong to omit all mention of them. 44 They make a colourful and ironic background for the things that really happened; and the fantastic preliminaries in London are an integral part of that curious comedy which the expedition was destined to provide.

         
            * I should explain here that the expedition was financed by the members. Each of us paid £400 into the expeditionary funds.
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            Getaway

         

         The liner wore an air of dignified but slightly impatient resignation, like a horse on whose back small and clutching children are being allowed a moment’s ride. All liners on the point of departure have this air. They resent the clutter of farewell, the influx of irrelevant landsmen. Some of these — notably the porters and the journalists — give offence by the initiate, the even proprietary bearing with which they tread corridors specially carpeted for this emergency. They seem hardly to be aware that they are afloat in salt water, and to regard the stately ship as an ephemeral and inconvenient place of resort: as it might be a marquee.

         But the main body of the invaders err in the other extreme. These (while their talk of ‘going upstairs’, their unforgivable cries of ‘waiter’, broadcast their unseaworthiness) display a childish and exclamatory delight in the most commonplace adjuncts of ocean travel. ‘Look!’ they ejaculate, ‘a library! And a gymnasium….’ They turn on taps. They price the dolls and dressing-gowns in the shop. To hear them enthuse, they might have supposed that their friends would be travelling in an eighteenth-century slaver. No self-respecting modern ship can stand much of this sort of thing.

         Even the conduct of the passengers leaves something to be desired. Once at sea they will be meek and malleable: attending boat drill, trying to be punctual for dinner, perhaps even calling the captain Sir. But now, in harbour, with a sheaf of envious or sympathetic telegrams in their hand, they are above themselves. Anxious to appear at home in this milieu which so excites the 46 wonder of their friends, they give an immense amount of trouble by asking whether they can have vases to put their flowers in, and why their porthole won’t open, and where the swimming bath is, and which is the cool side of the ship, and by ordering monstrous rounds of drinks at the very last moment. When at last the time comes for visitors to go ashore, it is with a certain petulance that the siren issues its deafening ultimatum. And who shall blame it?

         The expedition came on board six strong. All appeared bemused but resolute. A gigantic bull mastiff — which could hardly have survived a week in tropical jungle — had been added to the party. This pleased the photographers, but made us feel more spurious than ever. ‘I wish I was coming with you,’ said a little spotted man from a provincial paper, shaking my hand with some emotion. It was rather a pathetic remark, so inconceivable was it that any of us should share his wish. Incidentally, that was the last time anyone made it.

         At last the boat began to move, sidling slowly out towards midstream. Figures on the quayside dwindled with a horrible deliberation; we parted by inches. Between ship and shore emotions were stretched unfairly, and for too long. The band played ‘Good Night, Sweetheart’ with considerable briskness. A few gulls wheeled over the shining water. Kent looked bright and busy under the summer sun. We had started; we were away.

         Certain people, of whom I am one, thrive in an atmosphere of uncertainty. It is not that we have the gambler’s spirit, that we challenge chance for the sake of the game. We are not so dashing. If we take risks, we take them because we are lazy. We delegate our responsibilities to fate. In any situation, the more you are obliged to leave to chance, the less you are obliged to do yourself. Being for the most part inefficient, incapable of foresight, and rather irresponsible, we like best those situations in which a great deal has to be left to chance.

         This (I reflected, as the docile fields were left behind) was just such a situation. Reviewing it, I decided that the immediate future had rarely appeared less cut and dried. My only fear was that there was too much uncertainty: that the situation would have no chance 47 of developing: that our enterprise, if not exactly still-born, would be exposed at birth on the chill uplands of the impracticable: and that I should be home again in time to shoot grouse and criticize Mr. Shaw’s new play at Malvern. A most lame and impotent conclusion, as the lady said to Iago.

         But not a very unlikely one. Only that morning I had received an urgent letter from the Foreign Office, in which was transmitted a warning from His Majesty’s Ambassador at Rio de Janeiro to the effect that:

         
            ‘General Rondon has been publishing in the press the severest strictures on foreign explorers in Brazil, whose intentions he considers suspect, especially in connection with attempts to search for Colonel Fawcett. The Ambassador gravely doubts whether General Rondon will give any facilities to expeditions of this kind and fears that he may even cause special legislation to be passed in order to hinder them.’

         

         This was scarcely encouraging. Everyone knows how fiery these South American legislators can be. I visualized a gun-boat intercepting the liner, and our manacled transhipment; anti-foreign demonstrations in the streets leading to the jail; an International Incident (with, of course, what they call Repercussions)….

         Uncertainty existed with regard to more things than our official reception. The question of the films, which I thought had died a natural death, had been unexpectedly revived. Before he said good-bye, our Organizer had assured us repeatedly that two expert camera-men were even now flying south from Hollywood (sometimes it was from New York) at the bidding of America’s most powerful film concern; they would meet us at Rio. This suggested untold complications, and made it harder than ever to visualize the future. Not that I seriously expected to see those camera-men….

         But what was there (when you came to think of it) that one could seriously expect to see? The exotic unrealities of our 48 intentions — till now a decorative and amusing background to the familiar flurry of a London life — would henceforth supply the pattern of our whole existence. We were through the looking glass. The time had come to stop talking about what we were going to do and do it. We were bound for Brazil, a distant country. Before we could even fail honourably in our enterprise (which was the best outcome I ever hoped for) we had to reach a part of that country of which the Brazilians themselves did not trouble to conceal their ignorance and fear. None of us could speak Portuguese. None of us had any relevant experience of the tropics. All arrangements for our transport were in the hands of Major Pingle, that experienced but uncommunicative man, that by now semi-legendary figure: whom none of us had ever seen, whose very existence we had to take on trust. Foreign explorers, it seemed, were suspect, however bona fide. What would they think of us, who could hardly pass for explorers at a cocktail party? What would they think of us, with our tongues in our cheeks and tear-gas bombs in our trunks? …

         The bugle went for lunch. England was out of sight. There was nothing to do but wait, for a fortnight, and see.
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